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Statement of Management’s Responsibilities for the Preparation and Approval
of the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

Management of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Almaty JSC (“the Bank”} is responsible for

the preparation of the financial statements that present fairly the financial position of the Bank as

at 31 December 2021, and the related statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for

the year then ended, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and of significant accounting
policies and notes to the financial statements {the “financial statements”} in compliance with International
Financial Reporting Standards {“IFRS"}.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for:

e  Properly selecting and applying accounting policies;

e Presenting information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;

. Providing additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient
to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on
the Bank’s financial position and financial performance; and

s  Making an assessment of the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Management is also responsible for:

e Designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and sound system of internal controls, throughout
the Bank;

s  Maintaining adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and exptain the Bank’s transactions
and disctose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Bank, and which enable them
to ensure that the financial statements of the Bank comply with IFRS;

Maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan;
Taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Bank; and
Preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 were approved by the Management of the
Bank an 15 April 2022,
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Lang ﬁ(ﬁeme & Iay K;shlbay
Cha|11-nan uf the'Mana Chief Accountant
15 April 2022

Almaty, Kazakhstan
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Independent Auditors” Report

To the Shareholder and the Board of Directors of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Almaty JSC

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
Almaty JSC (the “Bank”}, which comprise the statement of financial position

as at 31 December 2021, the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2021, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards {“IFRSs”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Bank in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) (/ESBA Code) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Republic of
Kazakhstan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The financial statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2020 were audited by
another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on thase statements on
21 April 2021.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance forthe Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (*DTTL"), its glabal network of member firms, and their related
entities {collectively, the "Deloitte organization”}). DTTL {also referred to as “Delvitte Global"} and each of its member firms and related
entities are legally separate and independent entities, which cannot abligate or bind each other in respect of third parties. DTTL and each
DTTL member firm and related entity is liable only for its own acts and omissians, and net those of each ather. DTTL does not provide
services to clients. Please see www .deloitte.com/ahout to learn more.

@ 2022 Deloitte LLP. All rights reserved.



In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liguidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do

50.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial
reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high levei of
assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordancewith I1SAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¢  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purposeof
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

s  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt onthe Bank’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidenceobtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditionsmay cause the Bank to cease to continue
as a going concern,

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.



We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA ALMATY JSC

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
{in thousands of Kazakhstani tenge}

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method
Cash and cash equivalents

Investment securities measured at amortised cost

Loans to corporate customers

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Current accounts and deposits from customers
Due to banks and other borrowed funds

Net interest income

Net fee and commission income
Net foreign exchange income

- dealing operations

- translation differences

Gther income

Non-interest income

Recovery of/{provision for] expected credit losses on loans to corporate
customers

Recovery of/{provision for} expected credit losses on cash and cash
equivalents

Personnel expenses

Other operating expenses

Taxes other than income tax

Depreciation and amortization

Non-interest expense

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

15 April 2022

Chief Accountant

Almaty, Kazakhstan

Note

10

h

12

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
5,551,555 2,148,521
3,590,900 2,109,328
1,754,627 1,925,181
10,897,082 6,183,030
[1,598,021) {363,521)
{41,797) 47,856)
{1,639,818) {411,377}
9,257,264 5,771,653
185,763 234,009
788,644 628,217
29,785 160,382
4,285 815
1,008,477 1,023,423
501,886 {655,908)
325 {298)
{866,644) {682,667)
{387,376) {223,157)
{58,492) {54,338}
{118,715) {163,617)
{929,016} {1,779,985)
9,336,725 5,015,091
{1,158,205) {613,007)
8,178,520 4,402,084

The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming, part

of, the financial statements.



INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA ALMATY J5C

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
{in thousands of Kazakhstani tenge}

31 December 31 December

Note 2021 2020
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 9 189,448,747 124,410,888
Placements with banks and other financizl institutions 9 1,104,500 1,417,275
Loans to corporate customers 10 10,053,367 67,631,043
Investment securities measured at amortised cost 11 59,499,841 22,545,187
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss - 395
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 12 604,822 590,136
Corporate income tax receivable - 380,485
Deferred tax asset 1 102,457 184,970
Other assets 66,369 61,660
TOTAL ASSETS 260,880,103 217,226,039
LIABILITIES
Due to banks 13 3,044,736 20,564,645
Current accounts and deposits from customers:
- Current accounts and deposits from corporate customers 14 212,523,631 150,136,538
- Current accounts and deposits from government entities 14 707,904 1,195,838
- Current accounts and deposits from retail customers 14 3,876,732 3,630,363
Other borrowed funds 15 4,132,889 11,266,144
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 65 -
Other liabilities 265,633 82,518
Total liabilities 224,551,590 186,876,046
EQUITY
Share capital 16 8,933,431 8,933,491
Statutory reserve 1,653,592 1,653,592
Retaingd earnings 25,741,430 19,762,910
Total equity 36,328,513 30,349,993
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 260,880,103 217,226,039

Chief Accountant

15 April 2022
Almaty, Kazakhstan
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The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming, part of, the financial staternents.
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INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA ALMATY JSC

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

{in thousands of Kazakhstani tenge)}

Statutory Retained

Share capital reserve earnings Tota! equity
Balance at 31 Decemnber 2019 8,933,491 1,653,592 15,360,826 25,947,909
Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year - - 4,402,084 4,402,084
Balance at 31 December 2020 8,933,491 1,653,592 19,762,910 30,349,993
Profit and total comprehensive income for the
year - - B,178,520 8,178,520
Dividends paid (Note 15) - - {2,200,000} {2,200,000}
Balance at 31 December 2021 8,933,491 1,653,592 25,741,430 36,328,513

/\’ / / Wz /

'J\ Ky#afay Kishibayeva
Chief Accountant

15 April 2022
Almaty, Kazakhstan

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming, part of, the financial statements.



INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA ALMATY JSC

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
{in thousands of Kazakhstani tenge}

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Interest receipts

Interest payments

Fee and commission receipts

Fee and commission payments

Net foreign exchange gain

Other income receipts

Personne! expenses paid

Other pperating expenses paid

{Increase)/decrease in operating assets

Placements with banks and other financial institutions
Loans to corporate customers

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Other assets

Increasef(decrease) In operating liabilities

Due to banks

Current accounts and deposits from customers
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Other liabilities

Net cash flows from/{used in) operating activities before income tax pald
Income tax paid

Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of investment securities measured at amortised cost
Redemption of investment securities measured at amortised cost
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (Note 12}

Cash flows used In investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from other borrowed funds {Note 15)
Repayment of other borrowed funds (Note 15}
Dividends paid [Note 16}

Cash flows used in financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in ¢ash and cash equivalents

Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and casheqguivalents

Effect of changes in expected credit losses on cash and cashequivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year {(Note 9)

15 April 2022
Almaty, Kazakhstan

2021 2020
10,779,410 5,598,472
(1,605,017) {371,124)

226,001 279,888
{40,037) {32,857}
788,644 628,217
4,285 815
{860,580} {689,742)
(369,187} {264,160)
340,000 {1,078,640)
59,138,717 {1,087,052)
395 {295}

11,755 {29,985}
(18,149,627} 15,544,985
59,338,762 {25,287,390)
65 {274)

93,551 -
109,697,137 (6,789,242)
{695,207) (1,089,518)
109,001,930 (7,878,760}
{204,814,660) {60,127,967)
167,875,044 54,471,245
{135,955) {68,358)
{37,075,571} {5,725,080)
48,424,600 4,477,000
(55,061,300} {7,568,000)
{2,200,000) -
(8,836,700) (3,091,000}
63,089,659 (16,694,840)
1,947,875 10,255,180
325 {398)
124,410,888 130,850,946
189,448,747 124,410,888

The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming, part of, the financial statements.



INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA ALMATY JSC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. REPORTING ENTITY
{a) Organization and cperations

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Almaty JSC (the “Bank”) was established in the Republic
of Kazakhstan on 3 March 1993, The principal activities are deposit taking and, opening and
maintenance of the customer accounts, lending, issuing guarantees, cash and settlement
operations and transactions with securities and foreign exchange. The activities of the Bank are
regulated by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan {the “NBRK”"}. The Bank holds a
general banking license #1.1.37 issued on 23 February 2016.

The Bank’s registered office is rooms 845 and 846, 150/230 Abai Avenue, corner of Turgut Ozal
Street, block 7, Almaty, 050046, Republic of Kazakhstan,

The Bank does not have any branches and subsidiaries. The majority of the Bank’s assets and
liabilities are lacated in the Republic of Kazakhstan.

The Bank is wholly-owned by Industrial and Commercial Bank of China JSC {the “Parent”}, which is
incorporated and operates in the People’s Republic of China. The uitimate controlling party
shareholder is the People’s Republic of China. Related party transactions are detailed in Note 21.

(b) Operating environment

Emerging markets such as Kazakhstan are subject to different risks than more developed
markets, including economic, political and social, and legal and legislative risks. Laws and
regulations affecting businesses in Kazakhstan continue to change rapidly, tax and regulatory
frameworks are subject to varying interpretations. The future economic direction of Kazakhstan
is heavily influenced by the fiscal and monetary policies adopted by the government, together
with developments in the legal, regulatory, and political environment.

Because Kazakhstan produces and exports large volumes of oil and gas, its economy is
particularly sensitive to the price of oil and gas on the world market.

The impact of further economic and political developments on future operations and financial
position of the Bank might be significant.

COVID-19 pandemic

A new coronavirus disease (COVID-19) began to spread rapidly across the world at the start of
2020 resulting in the World Health Organization’s announcement of a pandemic in March 2020.
Responses put in place by many countries to contain the spread of COVID-19 are resulting in
significant operational disruption for many companies and have significant impact on global
financial markets. Therefore, the Bank may face the increasingly broad effects of COVID-19 as a
result of its negative impact on the global economy and major financial markets. The significance
of the effect of COVID-19 on the Bank’s business largely depends on the duration and the spread
of the pandemic on the global and Kazakhstani economies.

Management of the Bank is monitoring developments in the economic situation and taking
measures it considers necessary in order to support the sustainability and development of the
Bank’s business for the foreseeable future.



INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA ALMATY JSC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
{a} Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
ReportingStandards (“IFRS”).

{b) Basis for measurement

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that financial
instruments are stated at fair value through profit or loss.

{c) Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Bank is the Kazakhstan tenge {“KZT"} as, being the national
currency of the Republic of Kazakhstan, it reflects the econamic substance of the majority of
underlying events and circumstances relevant to the Bank.

The KZT is also the presentation currency for the purposes of these financial statements.
Financial information presented in KZT is rounded to the nearest thousand.

{d} Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS reguires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future
periods affected.

Judgments

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting
in a material adjustment in the year ended 31 December 2020 is included in the following notes:

- Impairment of financial instruments: determining inputs into the ECL measurement model,

including incorporation of forward-looking information — Note 4;
- Impairment of loans to corporate customers - Note 10;

10



INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA ALMATY JSC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below are applied consistently to all periods presented in these
financial statements.

{a) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are transtated to the functional currency of the Bank at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency
gain or loss an monetary items is the difference between amortized cost in the functional
currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the
period, and the amortized cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of
the reporting period.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
transacted using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognized in profit and loss.

{b} Interestincome and expense

Effective interest rate

Irterest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

& the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
e  the amortized cost of the financial liability.

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than purchased or
originated credit-impaired assets, the Bank estimates future cash flows considering all
contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not expected credit losses. For purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated
using estimated future cash flows including expected credit losses.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid
or received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include
incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or
financial lfability.

11



INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA ALMATY JSC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Amortized cost and gross carrying amount

The ‘amortized cost’ of a financial asset or financial fiability is the amount at which the financial
asset or financial liability is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus
or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference
between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any
expected credit loss allowance.

The ‘gross carrying amount of a financial asset’ measured at amortized cost is the amortized cost
of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Calculation of interest income and expense

The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability is calculated on initial recognition
of a financial asset or a financial liability. In calculating interest income and expense, the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not
credit- impaired) or to the amortized cost of the liability. The effective interest rate is revised as a
result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating rate instruments to reflect movements
in market rates of interest.

However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the

financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income
reverts to the gross basis.

For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest income is calculated
by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the asset.

The calculation of interest income does not revert to a gross basis, even if the credit risk of the
asset improves.

For information on when financial assets are credit-impaired, see 3(e)(iv}.

Presentation

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method presented in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income includes interest income on financial assets
measured at amortized cost.

Interest expense presented in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
includes interest expense on financial liabilities measures at amortized cost.

{c) Fee and commission income and expense

Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interestrate on a
financial asset or financial liability are included in the effective interest rate calculation.

Other fee and commission income — including account servicing fees, remittance and cash

operations, fees for placement and origination of a syndicated loan - is recognized as the related
services are provided.

12



INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA ALMATY JSC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED)
FOR THE ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

The contract with a customer, which resulted in a financial instrument recognized in the financial
statements of the Bank may be partially within the scope of IFRS 9 and partially within the scope
of IFRS 15. I this is the case, then the Bank first applies IFRS 9 to separate and measure the part
of the contract that is in the scope of IFRS 9 and then applies IFRS 15 to the residual.

Other fee and commission expense includes mostly the service costs, which are expenses as
soon as the respective services are received.

{d) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances {nostro
accounts) held with the NBRK and other banks, ebligatory reserves in NBRK and highly liquid
financial assets with original maturities of less than three months, which are subject to
insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Bank in the management of
short-term commitments. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the
statement of financial position.

{e) Financial assets and financial liabilities

{i) Classification of financial instruments

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortized cost, FVOCl or
FVTPL.

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is
not designated as at FVTPL:

e the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets hoth of the following conditions and is
not designated as at FVTPL:

e the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

For debt financial assets measured at FVOC, gains and losses are recognized in other
comprehensive income, except for the following, which are recognized in profit or loss in the
same manner as for financial assets measured at amortized cost:

™ interest revenue using the effective interest method;
- ECL and reversals; and
e  foreign exchange gains and losses.

When a debt financial asset measured at FVOC! is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.

13



INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA ALMATY JSC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Bank may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income.
This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

Gains and losses on such equity instruments are never redlassified to profit or loss and
no impairment is recognized in profit or loss. Dividends are recognized in profit or loss unless
they clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment, in which case they are
recognized in other comprehensive income. Cumulative gains and losses recognized in other
comprehensive income are transferred to retained earnings on disposal of an investment.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.

In addition, on initial recognition the Bank may irrevocably designate a financial asset that
otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Business model assessment

The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a
portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is
provided to management. The information considered includes:

e  the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in
practice; in particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual
interest revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the
financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising
cash flows through the sale of the assets;

»  how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Bank's
management;

e  the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and how those risks are managed;

. how managers of the business are compensated — e.g. whether compensation is based on
the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

e the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and
its expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not
considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Bank’s stated
objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a
fair value basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash
flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for
the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of
time and for other basic lending risks and costs {e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs}, as
well as profit margin.
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In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the
Bank considers the contractual terms of the instrument.

This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change
the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In
making the assessment, the Bank considers:

contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;

leverage features;

prepayment and extension terms;

terms that limit the Bank’s claim to cash flows from specified assets {e.g. non-recourse
asset arrangements);

»  features that modify consideration of the time value of money — e.g. periodical reset
of interest rates.

. & & 9

Reclassiflcation

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period
after the Bank changes its business model for managing financial assets,

{ii) Derecognition
Financial assets

The Bank derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantialfy all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset
are transferred or in which the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset
{or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognized) and the sum

of {i} the consideration received {including any new asset obtained less any new liability
assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in other comprehensive
income is recognized in profit or loss.

The Bank enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognized onits statement of
financial position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the
transferred assets or a portion of them. In such cases, the transferred assets are not
derecognized. Examples of such transactions are securities lending and sale-and-repurchase
transactions.

In transactions in which the Bank neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Bank continues
to recognize the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to
which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.

Financial lHiabilities
The Bank derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or

cancelled, or expire,
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{iif} Modification of financial assets and financlol liabllities

Financial assets

if the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Bank evaluates whether the cash fiows of the
madified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different (referred to
as ‘substantial modification’}, then the tontractual rights to cash flows from the original financial
asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognized and a
new financial asset is recognized at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs.

Any fees received as part of the modification are accounted for as follows:

e feesthat are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that
represent reimbursement of eligible transaction costs are included in the initial
measurement of the asset; and

«  other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.

Changes in cash flows on existing financial assets or financial liabilities are not considered as
maodification, if they result from existing contractual terms, e.g. changes in interest rates initiated
by the Bank due to changes in the NBRK refinancing rate, if the loan agreement entitles the Bank
to do so.

The Bank performs a quantitative and qualitative evaluation of whether the modification is
substantial, i.e. whether the cash flows of the original financial asset and the modified or
replaced financial asset are substantially different. The Bank assesses whether the modification is
substantial based on quantitative and qualitative factors in the following order: qualitative
factors, quantitative factors, combined effect of qualitative and quantitative factors. If the cash
flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original
financial asset deemed to have expired. In making this evaluation the Bank analogizes to the
guidance on the derecognition of financial liabilities.

The Bank concludes that the modification is substantial as a result of the following qualitative
factors:

s change in the currency of the financial asset;
s  change in collateral or other credit enhancement;
. inclusion of conversion option.

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the
maodification is usually to maximise recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to
originate a new asset with substantially different terms. If the Bank plans to modify a financial
asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash flows, then it first considers whether a
portion of the asset should be written off before the modification takes place (see below for
wrrite off policy).This approach impacts the result of the quantitative evaluation and means that
the derecognition criteria are not usually met in such cases. The Bank further performs
qualitative evaluation of whether the modification is substantial,

if the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOCI does not result in
derecognition of the financial asset, then the Bank first recalculates the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset using the original effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the
resulting adjustment as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.
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For floating-rate financial assets, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the
modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the
modification. Any costs or fees incurred and fees received as part of the modification adjust the
gross carrying amount of the modified financial asset and are amortized over the remaining term
of the modified financial asset.

If such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower (see
Note 3(e) {iv)), then the gain or loss is presented together with impairment losses. In other cases,
it is presented as interest income calculated using the effective interest method (see Note 3{b)).

For fixed-rate loans, where the borrower has an option to prepay the loan at par without
significant penalty, the Bank treats the modification of an interest rate to a current market rate
using the guidance on floating-rate financial instruments. This means that the effective interest
rate is adjusted prospectively .

Financial liabilities

The Bank derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash fiows of the
modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the
modified terms is recognized at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognized in
profit or loss. The consideration paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the
liabilities assumed, including the new modified financial liability.

The Bank assesses whether the modification is substantial based on guantitative and gualitative
factorsin the following order: qualitative factors, quantitative factors, combined effect of
qualitative and quantitative factors. The Bank concludes that the modification is substantial as a
resuft of the following qualitative factors:

change in the currency of the financial liability;
change in collateral or other credit enhancement;
inclusion of conversion option;

change in the subordination of the financial liability.

For the quantitative assessment the terms are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the
discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.

If the modification terms of financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the
amortized cost of the liability is recalculated by discounting the moedified cash flows at the
original effective interest rate and the resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. For
floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the
modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the
rodification. Any costs and fees incurred are recognized as an adjustment to the carrying
amount of the liability and amortized over the remaining term of the modified financial liability
by re-computing the effective interest rate on the instrument.
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{iv) impairment
See also Note 4.

The Bank recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial
instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:

. financial assets that are debt instruments;
¢ financial guarantee contracts issued (previously, impairment was measured under IAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.)

The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following,
for which they are measured as 12-month ECL:

»  debtinvestment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date; and

» other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their
initial recognition (see Note 4}.

The Bank considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent
to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

12-month expected credit losses (ECL) are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Financial
instruments for which a 12-month ECL is recognised are referred to as ‘Stage 1’ financial
instruments.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. Financial instruments, for which a lifetime ECL is recognised are referred to
as ‘Stage 2’ financial instruments (if the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, but the financial instruments are not credit-impaired) and ‘Stage 3’ financial
instruments (if the financial instruments are credit-impaired).

Measurement of expected credit losses (ECL)
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

»  financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of
all cash shortfalls {i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Bankin accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive);

o financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between
the gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

e  financial gugrantee contracts: the present value of expected payments to reimburse the
holder less any amounts that the Bank expects to recover.

See also Note 4.
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Restructured financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is
replaced with a new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made
of whether the financial asset should be derecognised (see Note 3{e}(iii}} and ECL are measured
as follows:

If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the
expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the
cash shortfalls from the existing asset (see Note 4).

If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the
expected fair value of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial
asset at the time of its derecognition. This amountis included in calculating the cash shortfalls
from the existing financial asset that are discounted from the expected date of
derecognition to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the existing
financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and
debt financial assets at FVQOC! are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following abservable data:

® & & ¥ &

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

restructuring of a loan or advance on terms that the Bank would not consider otherwise;
it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

A loan that was renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition was usually
considered to be impaired unless there was evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual
cashflows had reduced significantly and there were no other indicators of impairment.

In addition, a loan that is overdue for 60 days or more is considered credit-impaired.

tn making an assessment of whether an investment in sovereign debt (other financial assets) is
credit-impaired, the Bank considers the following factors:

The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond yields,

the rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness.

The country’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance.

The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses through
voluntary or mandatory debt forgiveness.

The international support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary support as lender
of last resort’ to that country, as well as the intention, reflected in public statements, of
governments and agencies to use those mechanisms. This includes an assessment of the
depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective of the political intent, whether there is the
capacity to fulfil the required criteria.
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Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

e financial assets measured at amortized cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying
amount of the assets

Write-offs

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full} when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering a financial asset. This is generally the case when the Bank determines
that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in ‘recovery of loss altowance for
expected credit losses on debt financial assets’ in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activitiesin
order to comply with the Bank’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Non-integral financial guarantee contracts

The Bank assesses whether a financial guarantee contract held is an integral element of a
financial asset that is accounted for as a component of that instrument or is a contract that is
accounted for separately. The factors that the Bank considers when making this assessment
include whether:

the guarantee is implicitly part of the contractual terms of the debt instrument;
the guarantee is required by laws and regulations that govern the contract of the

debt instrument;
e  theguarantee is entered into at the same time as and in contemplation of the debt

instrument; and
e the guarantee is given by the parent of the borrower or another company within the

borrower’s group.
(f} Non-financial assets
impairment

Non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are assessed at each reporting date for any
indications of impairment. The recoverable amount of non-financial assets is the greater of their
fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
usinga pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessrnents of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.
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All impairment losses in respect of non-financial assets are recognized in profit or loss and
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

(g) Loans to customers

‘Loans to corporate customers’ caption in the statement of financial position include:

e loans to customers measured at amortized cost {see Note 3(e}(i}}; they are initially
measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their
amortized cost using the effective interest method.

{h} Investment securities

The ‘investment securities measured at amortised cost’ caption in the statement of financial
position includes debt investment securities measured at amortised cost {see Note 3{e}{i)}; these
are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently at
their amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(i) Deposits and other borrowed funds

Deposits and ather borrowed funds are initially measured at fair value minus incremental direct
transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest

method.
{i} Property, plant and equipment
{i} Owned assets

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses,

Where an item of property and equipment comprises major components having different useful
lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property and equipment.

{ii) Depreclation

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
the individual assets. ltems of property, plant and equipment are depreciated from the date that
they are acquired, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the assetis
completed and ready for us. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives of various items
of property, ptant and equipment are as follows:

2021 2020
Buiidings and construction 10-30years; 10-30 years;
Computers 3 years; 3 years;
Vehicles G years; 6 years;
Other 5-10 years. 5-10 years.
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On 1 January 2020 the Bank brought the accounting of property, plant and equipment in line
with the accounting policy of the Parent, as a result of which the estimated useful lives of various
items of property, plant and equipment were changed.

{k) Intangible assets
Acquired intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses.

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire
and bring to use the specific software.

Amortization is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
intangible assets. The estimated useful life of intangible assets was also changed in accordance
with the accounting policy of the Parent and is 10 years.

{l) Share capital
{i} Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to issue of
ordinary shares and share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax
effects.

{ii) Dividends

The ability of the Bank to declare and pay dividends is subject to acting legislation of the Republic
of Kazakhstan.

Dividends in relation to ordinary shares are reflected as an appropriation of retained earnings in
the period when they are declared.

(m} Taxation

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that it relates to items of other comprehensive income or transactions with
shareholders recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised within other
comprehensive income or directly within equity.

Current tax expense includes the expected tax payable on the taxable income or loss for the
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any
adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. Deferred tax asset is not recognised for the initial recognition of temporary differences
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred taxis measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary

differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date.
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Deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the temporary differences, unused tax losses and credits can be
utilized. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no lenger probable that the
related tax benefit will be realized.

{n) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Bank assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Bank uses the definition of a lease in

IFRS 16.
Leases in which the Bank Is a lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a tease component, the Bank
allecates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative
stand-alone price.

The Bank recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date.
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the
lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus
any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives

received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-tine method from the
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset to the Bank by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset
reflects that the Bank will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis
as those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically
reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease
fiability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if

that rate cannot be readily determined, the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the
Bank uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Bank determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various
external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and
type of the asset leased.

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Itis
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, if there is a change in the Bank’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, if the Bank changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease
payment.
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When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of

the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Bank presents right-of-use assets in ‘property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets’

and lease liabilities in ‘other liabilities’ in the statement of financial position.
{o} Standards issued but not yet effective

(i} New and amended IFRS Stondards that are effective for the current year

The fellowing amendments and interpretations are effective for the Group effective January 1,

2021:
Amendments to IFRS 9, 1AS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 interest Rote Benchmark Reform (Phase 2)
Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

The above standards and interpretations were reviewed by the Bank’s management, but did not

have a significant effect on the financial statements of the Bank.

{ii) New and revised IFRS Standards in issue but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Bank has not applied the following

new and revised IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective:

New or revised standard or interpretation

Applicable to annual
reporting periods
heginning on or after

IFRS 17 “Insurance contracts”

Amendments to IFRS 17 "insurance contracts”

Amendments to IAS 1 "Clossification of Liabilities os Current or Non-current” (as part of the project to
formulate Annual improvements to IFRS 2010-2012 cycles).

Amendments 1o IAS 8 — “Definition of Accounting Estimoates”

Amendments to 1AS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 — "Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

Annuol Improvements to IFRS Stondards 2018-2020;

Amendments to IFRS 3 — “Reference to the Conceptual Fromework”

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Revenue Before Intended Use

Amendments to 1AS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabifities and Contingent Assets” ~ “Loss-making Contracts —
Completion Value”

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax Relating to Assets and Liohilities Arising from a Single Transaction

1 lanuary 2023
1January 2023

1 January 2023
1 January 2023
1 fanuary 2023

1January 2022
1January 2022

1January 2022
1 lanuary 2023

Amendment to IFRS 10 and A5 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associote or Date to be determined

Joint Venture

by the 1ASB

The Bank does not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material

impact on the financial statements of the Bank in future periods.

FINANCIAL RISK REVIEW

This note presents information about the Bank’s expasure to financial risks, For information on the

Bank's financial risk management framewaork, see Note 17,
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Credit risk - Amounts arising from ECL

Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment
See accounting policy in Note 3(e)(iv).

Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Bank considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative infermation and analysis, based on the Bank’s historical experience and informed
credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in credit risk has
occurred for an exposure by comparing:

s theremaining lifetime probability of default {PD} as at the reporting date; with

*  the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at the time of initial
recognition of the exposure (adjusted where relevant for changes in prepayment
expectations},

The Bank uses the following criteria for determining whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk:

» qualitative indicators such as negative external information {e.g. overdue loans of borrowers
with other banks}, evaluation of future credit worthiness {previous credit history, etc.}; and

+  backstop of 30 days past due.
Credit risk grades

The Bank allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based on a variety of data that is
determined to be predictive of the risk of default and applying experienced credit judgement.
Credit risk gradesare defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that are indicative of the
risk of default. Thesefactors may vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the type of
borrower.

Credit risk grades are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default occurring increases
exponentially as the credit risk deteriorates so, for example, the difference in risk of default
between credit risk grades 1 and 2 is smaller than the difference between credit risk grades 2
and 3.

Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk grade at initial recognition based on available

information about the borrower/counteragent. Exposures are subject to ongoing monitoring,
which may result in an exposure being moved to 2 different credit risk grade.
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The monitoring typically involves use of the following data.

Corporate exposure

. Information obtained during periodic review of borrowers’ files — e.g. audited financial statements, management
accounts, budgets and projections. Examples of areas of particular focus are: gross profit margins, financial leverage
ratios, debt service coverage, compliance with covenants, quality of management, senior management changes.

Payment record —this includes overdue status as well as a range of variables about payment ratios

Data from credit reference agencies, press articles, changes in external credit ratings

Requests for and granting of for bearance

Quoted bond and credit default swap {CDS) prices for the issuer where available

Existing and forecast changes in business, financial and economic conditions

" * & = & 9

in its business activities

Actual and expected significant changes in the political, regulatery and technological environment of the barrower or

Generating the term structure of PD

Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the term structure of PD for
exposures,

The Bank collects performance and default information about its credit risk exposures analysed
by jurisdiction or region and by type of product and borrower as well as by credit risk grading.
For some portfolios, information purchased from external credit reference agencies is also used.

The Bank employs statistical models to analyse the data collected and generate estimates of the
remaining lifetime PD of exposures and how these are expected to change as a result of the
passage of time,

Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly

The Bank assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition at each
reporting period. Determining whether an increase in credit risk is significant depends on the
characteristics of the financial instrument and the borrower/issuer, and the geographical region.
What is considered significant will differ for different types of lending.

The credit risk may also be deemed to have increased significantly since initial recognition based
on qualitative factors linked to the Bank's credit risk management processes that may not
atherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis. This will be the case for
expasures that meet certain heightened risk criteria, such as placement on a watch list. Such
qualitative factors are based on its expert judgement and relevant historical experience.

As a backstop, the Bank considers, amongst other, that a significant increase in credit risk occurs
no later than when an asset is more than 30 days past due. Days past due are determined by
counting the number of days since the earliest elapsed due date in respect of which full payment
has not been received. Due dates are determined without considering any grace period that
might be available to the borrower.

if there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk relative to initial
recognition, then the loss alfowance on an instrument returns to being measured as 12-month
ECL. Some qualitative indicators of an increase in credit risk, such as delinquency of forbearance,
may be indicative of an increased risk of default that persists after the indicator itself has ceased

to exist.
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In these cases the Bank determines a probation period {12-month period) during which the
financial asset is required to demonstrated good behavior to provide evidence that its credit risk
has declined sufficiently, When contractual terms of a loan have been modified, evidence that
the criteria for recognizing lifetime ECL are no longer met includes history of up-to-date payment
performance against the modified contractual terms.

Definition of default
The Bank considers a financial asset to be in default when {but not limited to):

e the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Bank in full, without recourse by
the Bank to actions such as realizing security (if any is held); or

] the borrower is past due more than 60 days on any material credit obligation to the Bank;

] it is becoming probable that the borrower will restructure the asset as a result of
bankruptcy due to the borrower’s inability to pay its credit obligations.

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Bank considers indicators that are (but not
limited to):

qualitative —e.g. breaches of covenant;
quantitative — e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same
issuer to the Bank; and

B based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance
may vary over time to reflect changes in circumstances.

Incorporating of forward-looking information
The Bank incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the

credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and the
measurement of ECL, using the coefficient calculated at the ICBC group’s level.

Measurement of ECL

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are generally the following variables:

o probability of default (PD);
. loss given default {LGDY);
®  exposure at default (EAD).

ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD and EAD.

The methodology of estimating PDs is discussed above under the heading “Generating the term
structure of PD”.

Due to lack of own supportable information about the foreclosure of collateral for at least two
years period, the Bank applies liquidity ratios set by the NBRK for calculation of a recovery rate
{1-LGD)to the value of collateral, for calculation of expected credit losses.
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EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Bank derives the EAD from
the current exposure to the borrower and potential changes to the current amount allowed
under the contract and arising from amortisation. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying
amount at the time of default. For lending commitments, the EAD is potential future amounts
that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical observations and
forward-looking forecasts.

As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for Stage 1 financial assets,
the Bank measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period
{including any borrower’s extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for
credit risk management purposes, the Bank considers a langer period.

For portfolios in respect of which the Bank has limited historical data, external benchmark
information is used to supplement the internally available data.

The portfolios for which external benchmark information represents a significant input into
measurement of ECL are as follows.

External benchmarks used

Exposure Exposure
at 31 December at 31 December
2021 2020 PD LGD
Cash and cash equivalents 189,448,747 124,410,888 Moody's recovery studies/
Placements with banks From{% to 100%
and otherfinancial depending on the type of
institutions 1,104,500 1,417,275 collateral in accordance
Loans to corporate with NBRK requirements;
customers 10,053,367 67,631,043 0% - if the counterparty
isthe Government of the
. Republic of Kazakhstan,
Investment securities theNBRK or national
measured atameortised ICBC group’s managing holding
cost 52,499,841 22,549,187  default study companies, and balances
of these counterparties
Other financial assets 28,662 20,871 are depominated in KZT,
NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Fee and commission income:
Apgency services 112,628 105,934
Transfer operations 70,788 134,424
Cash operations 13,984 14,241
Guarantee and letter of credit issuance 586 544
Other fee and commission income 27,814 11,723
Total fee and commission income 225,800 266,860
Fee and commisslon expense:
Transfer operations {19,232} {15,964)
Cards maintenance {252} {341)
Other {20,553} {16,552}
Total fee and commission expense {40,037} {32,857)
Net fee and commission income 185,763 234,009
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Fee income for agency services includes commissions earned by the Bank for acting as an agent
for syndicated loans issued to the residents of the Republic of Kazakhstan jointly with Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China Dubai branch, Commaercial Bank of China Singapore branch, China
Development Bank, the Export-import Bank of China and industrial, Asian Infrastructure
Investment Bank and European Bank for Reconstruction and Development. The Bank provides
services of administration of these loans. Revenue related to transactions and fees for
administration of a loan syndication are recognized over as the agency services are provided.
Revenue related to other transactions is recognised at the point in time when the transaction
takes place.

Fee and commission income on transfer transactions and issuance of guarantees and letters of
credit, which are not integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or financial liability,
is recognised depending on the type of the service either at the point in time or as the Bank
satisfies its performance obligation under the contract:

a. commission for transfer operations and cash operations is charged for execution of
customers’ payment orders in accordance with the tariffs depending on the type of
transaction and is recognised as income at the time when transaction is performed;

b. commission for guarantee and letter of credit issuance is paid by customers in advance and
is recognised as income over the term of validity of a relevant guarantee or letter of credit.

PERSONNEL EXPENSES
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Employee compensation 783,940 618,734
Payroll related taxes 82,704 63,933
Total personnel expenses 866,644 682,667
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
Year ended Year ended
21 December 31 December
2021 2020

Information technology services 123,241 15,809
Information and communication services 63,706 47,997
Antivirus events related to coronavirus 42,375 26,423
Professional services 38,269 26,981
Utilities 15,143 14,313
Security 11,784 11,408
Membership fees 10,997 8,269
Insurance 10,319 11,844
Repair and maintenance 9,926 5,547
Travel expenses 9,048 9,819
Dreposit insurance 6,089 6,020
Office supplies 4,458 3,007
Training expenses 2,626 1,278
Transportation expenses 2,592 1,737
Translation and notary services 1,661 1,601
Cash collection 947 931
Representation expenses 244 8329
Advertising expenses 378 3,214
Other 32,873 21,130
Total other operating expenses 387,376 223,157
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8, INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Current year tax expense {1,075,239) {760,000}
Income tax underprovided in prior periods {a53) {7,527)
Total current tax expense {1,075,692} {767,527}
Movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities due to origination and reversal
of temporary differences {82,513} 154,520
Total income tax expense {1,158,205) {613,007}
In 2021, the applicable tax rate for current and deferred tax was 20% (2020: 20%).
Reconciliation of effective tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020:
December 31, December 31,

2021 2020 %
Profit before income tax 9,336,725 5,015,091
Income tax at the applicable tax rate {1,867,345) {20.0} {1,003,018} {20.00
Non-taxable income on government securities 718,180 7.7 471,866 84
Income tax undarprovided in prior periods {453} {0.0} {7.527) 0.2)
Write-off of deferred tax assets recognised inprior
reporting periods - - {17,780} 0.4)
Other non-deductible expenses {8,587) 0.1} {6,548) {0.1}

{1,158,205) {12.4} {613,007) {12.2)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The deductible temporary differences do not expire under current tax legislation.

Movements in temporary differences during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are

presented as follows.

1 January Recognised in 31 December
2021 profit or loss 2021
Property, plant and equipment and intangibleassets 23,265 (4,200} 19,065
Loans to corporate customers 148,068 {97,743) 51,325
Other liabilities 12,637 19,430 32,067
184,970 {82,513) 102,457
1 January Recognised in 31 December
2020 profit or loss 2020
Property, plant and equipment and intangibleassets 5,221 18,044 23,265
Loans to corporate customers - 149,068 14%,068
Other liabilities 25,229 {12,592} 12,637
30,450 154,520 184,970
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9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash on hand

Nostro accounts with the NBRK [rated BBEB-}
Nostro accounts with other banks

rated from A- to A+

rated from BBE-to BBB+

rated from BB- to BB+

not rated

Total nostro accounts with other banks
Loss allowance

Total nestro accounts with other banks, net
Cash equivalents

Term deposits with the NBRK (rated BBB-]
Term deposits with other banks

rated from BES- to BBB+

Tatal term deposits with other banks
Loss allowance

Total term deposits with other banks, net
Total cash equivalents

Total cash and cash equivalents

31 December 31 December
2021 2020

200,575 103,656
42,913,844 48,631,009
24,461,230 24,992,791
- 19,883

5 3

193,245 118,388
24,654,480 25,131,065
(75) (65)
24,654,404 25,131,000
121,067,727 48,935,859
612,197 1,609,697
612,197 1,609,697
- (333)

612,197 1,609,354
121,679,924 50,545,223
189,448,747 124,410,888

The credit ratings are presented by reference to the credit ratings of Standard & Poor’s credit
ratings agency or analogues of similar international agencies.

All cash and cash equivalents are allocated to Stage 1 of the credit risk grade.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2021, the Bank has three banks, whose deposit balances exceed
10% of equity. The gross value of these balances as at 31 December 2021 is
KZT 184,077,420 thousand {31 December 2020: KZT 119,283,141 thousand).

Analysis of movements in the loss allowance

Balance at 1 January

Recovery of/{provision for] expected credit losses
Foreign exchange

Balance at 31 December

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Stage 1 Stage 1
398 352
(325) 298
3 {252)
16 398
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Minimum reserve requirements

In accordance with regulations issued by the NBRK, minimum reserve requirements are
calcufated as average of totals of specified proportions of different groups of banks liabilities for
period of twenty eight calendar days. Banks are required to comply with these requirements by
maintaining average reserve assets {in the form of local currency cash on hand and balances on
current accounts with the NBRK in national currency} equal or in excess of the average minimum
requirements. Asat 31 December 2021, the minimum reserve is KZT 5,785,146 thousand

{31 December 2020: KZT 4,591,836 thousand). Minimum reserve reguirements are included in
Cash and cash equivalents with original maturities of less than three months, which are subject to
insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Bank in the management of
short-term commitments.

Placements with banks and other financial institutions

Accounts and deposits with banks and other financial institutions are represented by margin
collateral and guarantee contributions to the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange JSC (hereinafter
referred to as the KASE} to ensure foreign currency trading and are deposited in accordance with
the requirements of the KASE. The following amounts are interest-free.

All accounts and deposits with banks and other financial institutions are classified as Stage 1 of
the credit risk level. As at 31 December 2021, there are no provisions for expected credit losses
with respect to accounts and depasits with banks and other financial institutions

(31 December 2020: none).
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10. LOANS TO CORPORATE CUSTOMERS

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Loans to corporate customers 10,309,914 68,377,753
Less: ailowance for expected credit fosses {256,547) {746,710}
Total loans to corporate customers 10,053,367 67,631,043

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, all loans to corporate customers are not past due and
allocated to Stage 1 of the credit risk grade.

{a) Analysis of movements in the loss allowance

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Stage 1 Stage 1
Balance at 1 January 746,710 95,923
{Recovery of)/provision for expected credit losses {501,886} 655,908
Foreign exchange 11,723 {5,121}
Balance at 31 December 256,547 246,710

(b) Keyassumptions and judgments for estimating the loan impairment

The Bank estimates the loss allowance on loans to corporate customers in accordance with the
accounting policy as described in Note 3{e)(iv). The key assumptions used in estimating loss
allowances for the current year generally include the borrower’s credit rating.

In 2020 the Bank revised the methodology for calculating the loss allowance on a loan issued to a
Kazakhstan state holding. Before 2020 the loss allowance on this Joan was calculated based on LGD
at 0%. During 2020, due to the fact that the loan is USD-denominated, the Bank switched to the
calculation of the loss allowance hased on the LGD from the borrower’s internal rating, which
resulted in additional accrual of expected credit losses in the amount of KZT 729,454 thousand.

Changes in these estimates could affect the loss allowance for loans issued. For example, to the
extent that the net present value of the estimated cash flows differs by plus or minus one
percent, the loss allowance for loans to corporate customers as at 31 December 2021
would be KZT 100,534 thousand lower/higher (31 December 2020: KZT 676,210 thousand}.

{c) Analysis of collateral

Loons to corporate customers

Loans to corporate customers are subject to individual credit appraisal and impairment testing.
The general credit worthiness of a corporate customer tends to be the most relevant indicator of

credit quality of the loan extended to it. However, collateral provides additional security and the
Bank generally requests corporate borrowers to provide it.
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The following tables provides information on collateral and other credit enhancements securing
loans to corporate customers:

31 December 31 December
Carrying amount of loans to customers 2021 2020
Third party guarantees (with group rating A} 4,540,271 5,259,049
No collateral 5,513,096 62,331,994
Total loans to corporate customers 10,053,267 67,631,043

The tables above exclude gver collateralization.

As at 31 December 2020 an uncollateralized loan of KZT 5,768,990 thousand is issued to a Kazakh
company operating in the energy sector.

As at 31 December 2020 an uncollateralized loan of KZT 63,061,448 thousand is issued to a
Kazakhstan State Holding.

The recoverability of these loans is primarily dependent on the creditworthiness of the
borrowers rather than the value of collateral, and the current value of the collateral does not
impact the impairment assessment.

(d) Industry and geographical analysis of the loan pertfolio

Industry analysis of the loan portfofio

Loans to custemers were issued to customers who aperate in the following economic sectors:

31 December 31 December

2021 2020
Energy 5,768,990 -
Kazakhstan State Helding 4,540,924 5,316,305
Finance - 63,061,448

10,309,914 68,377,753
Less; allowance for expected credit losses (256,547) {746,710}

10,053,367 67,631,043
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11.

Geographical analysis of the loan portfolio
Loans were issued to the customers operating in the Republic of Kazakhstan.

{e) Significant credit exposures

As at 31 December 2021 the Bank has two borrowers {31 December 2020: two borrowers),
whose loan balances exceed 10% of equity. The gross value of these loans as at
31 December 2021 is KZT 8,851,842 thousand (31 December 2020: KZT 66,327,738 thousand}.

(fy Loan maturities

The maturity of the loan portfolio is presented in note 17(d), which shows the remaining period
from the reporting date to the contractual maturity of the loans,

INVESTMENT SECURITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

As at 31 December 2021, the entire amount of investment securities measured at amortized cost
is represented by treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan with
carrying amount of KZT 7,931,159 thousand with maturity dates in 2022, 2023 and 2026 and
discount notes of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan with carrying amount of

KZT 51,568,682 thousand with maturity date in 2022, denominated in KZT and rated BBB-.

As at 31 December 2020, the entire amount of investment securities measured at amortized cost
is represented by treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan with
carrying amount of KZT 3,708,737 thousand with maturity dates in 2022, 2023 and 2026 and
discount notes of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan with carrying amount of

KZT 18,840,450 thousand with maturity date in 2021, denominated in KZT and rated BBB-.

The credit ratings are presented by reference to the credit ratings of Standard&Poor’s credit
ratings agency or analogues of similar international agencies.

The Bank holds these securities within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to
collect contractual cash flows. Officially published price quotations for similar debt securities

with identical terms are available at local stock exchange.

As at 31 December 2021 there are no allowances for expected credit losses for investment
securities measured at amortised cost (31 December 2020: none).

All investment securities measured at amortised cost are allocated to Stage 1 of credit risk level.
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13, DUE TO BANKS

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Vostro accounts of the banks of the Republic of Kazakhstan 2,642,761 2,961,927
Vostro accounts of the Parent Bank 274,953 §5,451
Vostro accounts of the foreign banks 127,022 17,507,267
3,044,736 20,564,645

As at 31 December 2021, Bank has no Banks, whose balance exceeds 10% of equity {2020: one
bank). The gross value of this balance as at 31 December 2021 is KZT nil
(31 December 2020: KZT 17,457,781 thousand).

14. CURRENT ACCOUNTS AND DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

31 December 31 December
2021 2020

Current accounts and deposits from corporate customers
- Current accounts and demand deposits 113,714,228 104,062,161
- Term deposits 98,809,403 46,074,377
Total current accounts and deposits from corporatecustomers 212,523,631 150,136,538
Current accounts and demand deposits from the state entities
- Current accounts and demand deposits 707,904 1,185,838
Total current accounts and demand deposits from the stateentities 707,904 1,195,838
Current accounts and deposits from retail customers
- Current accounts and demand deposits 3,875,737 3,611,052
- Term deposits 595 19,311
Total current accounts and deposits from retail customers 3,876,732 2,630,363
Total current accounts and deposits from customers 217,108,267 154,962,739

As at 31 December 2021 the Bank has deposits from customers in the amount of
KZT 112,424 thousand that serve as collateral for unrecognized credit instruments granted by the
Bank (2020: none).

As at 31 December 2021 the Bank has ten customers (2020: five customers), whose balances

exceed 10% of equity. The gross value of these balances as at 31 December 2021 are
KZT 186,972,902 thousand {2020: KZT 121,281,604 thousand).
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15,

16.

OTHER BORROWED FUNDS
Nominal
interastrate, 31December 31 December
Date of issue  Maturitydate  Currency % 2021 2020

Unsecured loans and

horrowings 21/04/2021 2171042022 IPY 0.23 4,132,889
Unsecured loans and

borrowings 290972020  29/12/2021 IPY 0.33 - 4,502,876
Unsecured loans and

borrowings 26/12/201%¢  26/01/2021 IPY 0.21 - 6,763,268
Other borrowed funds 4,132,889 11,266,144

As at 31 December 2021, the Bank has concluded one loan agreement with Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China, Tokyo Branch for JPY 1,100,000 thousand. The loan is repayable at
maturity.

As at 31 December 2020, the Bank has concluded two loan agreements with Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China, Tokyo Branch for JPY 1,100,000 thousand and JPY 1,650,000 thousand,
respectively. The loans are repayable at maturity. These loans were fully repaid in 2021.

Reconcilistion of movements of liabilities to cash flows from financing activities

Gther borrowed funds
2021 2020

Balance at 1 January 11,266,144 13,552,494
Changes from financing cash flows

Proceeds from other borrowed funds 48,424,600 4,477,000
Repayments of other borrowed funds (55,061,300) {7,568,000)
Total changes from financing cash flows (6,636,700} (3,091,000)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates {485,800) 786,500
Changes in accrued interest {10,755) 18,150
Balance at 31 December 4,132,889 11,266,144

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

{a) Issued capital

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the authorized, issued and outstanding share capital

comprises 14,238 ordinary shares with nominal value of KZT 627,440 per share.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and
are entitled to one vote per share at annual and general meetings of the Bank.

{b) Dividends

Under the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan and the Bank’s charter documents the dividends
available for distribution are subject to statutory regulation of the Republic of Kazakhstan.
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17.

In 2021 the Bank dedlared and paid dividends in the amount of KZT 2,200,000 thousand,
KZT 154,516.08 per share (2020: dividends were not declared and paid).

{¢) Nature and purpose of reserves

Until 2013, in accordance with Resolution #196 On Establishment of Minimum Limit on Reserve
Capital of Second-Tier Banks issued by the Committee on 28 August 2009, the Bank had to
establish reserve capital by transferring an amount from retained earnings to a non-distributable
reserve. The amount to be transferred each year was calculated as the net profit for the preceding
year before distribution of dividends attributable to ordinary shareholders, multiplied by the
percentage increase in classified assets and contingent liabilities {as defined in the Resolution 296
On Approval of the Rules of Classification of Assets, Contingent Liabilities and Creation of
Provisions (Reserves} against Assets and Contingent Liabilities issued by the Committee

on 25 December 2006} during the preceding year. Such percentage increase had to be not less
than 10% and not more than 100%. Those Resolutions ceased ta be in force during 2013.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Bank has not transferred funds from retained earningsto a
general bank reserve.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Bank’s reserve capital was not dissolved.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Management of risk is fundamental to the business of banking and forms an essential element of
the Bank’s operations. The major risks faced by the Bank are those related to market risk, credit

risk and liquidity risk.
(a) Risk management policies and procedures

The risk management policy and methods aim to identify, analyse and manage the risks faced by
the Bank, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to continuously monitor risk levels and
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and procedures are reviewed regularly to reflect
changes in market conditions and emerging best practice.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the oversight of the risk management
framework, overseeing the management of key risks and reviewing risk management policies and
procedures as well as approving significantly large exposures.

The Management Board is responsible for monitoring and implementation of risk mitigation
measures and making sure that the Bank operates within the established risk parameters. The Risk
Management Department is responsible for the overall risk management and compliance
functions,ensuring the implementation of common principles and methods for identifying,
measuring,managing and reporting both financial and non-financial risks.

Credit, market and liquidity risks both at the portfolio and transactional levels are managed and
controlled through Strategic Planning and Risk Management Committee, Credit Committee, Risk
Management and Asset and Liability Management Committee.
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Both external and internal risk factors are identified and managed throughout the organisation.
Particular attention is given to identifying the full range of risk factors and determination of the
level of assurance over the current risk mitigation procedures. Apart from the standard credit and
market risk analysis, the Risk Management Department monitors financial and non-financial risks
through the use of risk management tools provided by internal documents {procedures} of the
Bank.

{b} Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risks. Market risk arises from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity
financial instruments, which are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in
the level of volatility of market prices.

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within
acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

Overall authority for market risk is vested in the Board of Directors, Strategic Planning and Risk
Management Committee, Management Board and Risk Management and Asset and Liability
Managerment Committee (the “ACB of the Bank”).

The Bank manages its market risk by setting open position limits in relation to financial instruments,
currency positions and stop-loss limits. These are monitored on a regular basis and reviewed by the
ACB of the Bank and the Protocol/Decision is issued.

{i) interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Bank is exposed to the effects of
fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows.
Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may also reduce or create losses in
the event that unexpected movements occur.,
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INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA ALMATY JSC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED)
FOR THE ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

{ii} Average interest rates

The table below displays average effective interest rates for interest bearing assets and liabilities
asat 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020. These interest rates are an approximation of the
yields to maturity of these assets and liabilities.

2021 2020
Average effective Interest rate, Average effective interest rate,
% %
Other Other
KZT usD currencies KZIT usp currencies

Interest bearing assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9.31 0.37 0.64 8.37 0.76 1.54

Leans to corporate customers 11.89 - - 11.29 1.65 -
Investment securities measuredat

amortized cost 9.64 - - 9.73 - -
Interest bearing llabilities
Due to banks
- Vostro accounts - - - - 0.1
Current accounts and deposits

from customers -
- Current accounts and

demand deposits 7.50 - - 68.75 - -

- Term deposits 4.39 0.38 - 8.47 .45 -
Other borrowed funds - - 0.27 - - 0.26

{iii) Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The management of interest rate risk based on interest rate gap analysis is supplemented by
monitoring the sensitivity of financial assets and liabilities. An analysis of sensitivity of profit or
loss and equity {net of taxes) to changes in interest rates {reprising risk) based on a simplified
scenario of a 100 basis point (bp) symmetrical fall or rise in all yield curves and positions of interest-
bearing assets and liabilities existing as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 is as follows:

2021 2020

100 bp parallel rise 848,490 899,667
100 bp parallel fall {348,480} {895,667)

fiv] Currency risk
The Bank has assets and liabilities denominated in several foreign currencies.

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The Bank does not hedge its
exposure to currency risk.
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INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA ALMATY JSC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

The following table shows the foreign currency exposure structure of financial assets and
liabilities,except for KZT, as at 31 December 2021:

Other
KZT UsD CNY currencies Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 44,989,455 130,263,627 7,011,646 7,183,975 185,448,747
Placernents with banks and

other financial institutions 25,000 1,079,500 - - 1,104,500
Total assets 45,014,495 131,343,127 7,011,646 7,183,975 190,553,247
LIABILITIES
Due to banks B15,82%9 136,868 2,060,064 31,975 3,044,736
Current accounts and deposits

from customers 79,228,703 130,053,312 4,840,988 2,985,264 217,108,267
Other borrowed funds - - - 4,132,889 4,132,889
Total liabilities 80,044,532 130,190,180 6,901,052 7,150,128 224,285,892
Net position {35,030,037) 1,152,947 110,594 33,851 {33,732,645)
Effect of derivatives held for

risk management - 215,900 - - 215,900
Net position given the effect of

derivatives held for risk

management {35,030,037} 1,368,847 110,594 33,851 {33,516,745)

The following table shows the foreign currency exposure structure of financial assets and
liabilities,except for KZT, as at 31 December 2020:
Other
KZIT usD CNY currencies Total

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 43,174,518 45,395,852 23,811,556 12,028,962 124,410,888
Placements with kanks and

other financial institutions 365,000 1,052,275 - - 1,417,275
Loans to corporate customers 5,299,049 62,331,954 - - 67,631,043
Total assets 48,838,567 108,780,121 23,811,556 12,028,962 193,459,206
LIABILITIES
Due to banks 1,022,435 91,393 19,420,524 29,893 20,564,645
Current accounts and deposits

fram customers 41,721,237 108,116,316 4,395,930 725,256 154,962,739
Other borrowed funds - - - 11,266,144 11,266,144
Total liabilities 42,743,672 108,207,709 23,820,854 12,021,293 186,793,528
Net position 6,094,895 572,412 {9,298) 7,669 6,665,678
Effect of derivatives held for

risk management - 210,750 - - 210,750
Net position given the effect of

derivatives held for risk

management 6,094,895 783,162 {9,298) 7,669 6,876,428

44



INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA ALMATY JSC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED)
FOR THE ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

A weakening of KZT, as indicated below, against the following currencies at 31 December 2021
and 2020 would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown
below. This analysis is on net of tax basis and is based on foreign currency exchange rate
variances that the Bank considered to be reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period.
The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

2021 2020
30% appreciation of USD against KZT 328,523 187,959
10% appreciation of CNY against KZT 8,848 {744)
10% appreciation of other currencies against KZT 2,708 614

A strengthening of the KZT against the above currencies at 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020 would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the
amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

{c) Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Bank has pelicies and procedures in
place to manage credit exposures (both for recognized financial assets and unrecognized
contractual commitments}, including guidelines to fimit portfolio concentration and the
establishment of a Credit Committee to actively monitor credit risk. The credit policy is reviewed
and approved by the Board of Directors.

The credit policy establishes:

procedures for review and approval of loan applications;

methodology for assessment of creditworthiness of borrower;
methodology for the credit rating of borrowers;

methodology for the evaluation of collateral;

credit documentation requirements;

procedures for the on going monitoring of loans and other credit exposures.

& o & ¥ ¥ @

Loan credit applications are reviewed by the Corporate Finance and Specialised Finance
Department and investment banking (the “front office:), which is responsible for the loan
portfolios, Conclusions of the managers of the Front office are based on a structured analysis
focusing on the customer’s business and financial performance. The loan credit applications then
undergo a legal examination and an examination on the econemic security, carried out by the
Security Service, theLegal Department and the Compliance Control Department and Financial
Monitoring Department.The Risk Management Department and Credit Review and Approval
Department prepare independent risk-conciusion and verifies that credit policy requirements
and risk appetite are met. The Credit Committee reviews the loan credit application on the basis
of submissions by the above-stated departments and services of the Bank.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

The Bank continuously monitors the performance of individual credit exposures and regularly
reassesses the creditworthiness of its customers. The review is based on the customer’s most
recent financial statements and other information submitted by the borrower, or otherwise
obtained by the Bank.

Apart from individual customer analysis, the credit portfolio is assessed by the Risk Management
Department with regard to credit concentration and market risks.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally reflected in the carrying amounts of financial
assets in the statement of financial position and unrecognized contractual commitment amounts.
The impact of possible netting of assets and liabilities to reduce potential credit exposure is not
significant.

The maximum exposure to credit risk from financial assets at the reporting date is as follows:

31 December 31 December
201 2020

ASSETS

Cash equivalents 189,248,172 124,307,232
Placements with banks and other financial institutions 1,104,500 1,417,275
Loans to corporate customers 10,053,367 67,631,043
Investment securities at amortized cost 59,499,841 22,549,187
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss - 395
Cther financial assets 28,669 20,871
Total maximum exposure 259,934,549 215,926,003

For the analysis of collateral held against loans to customers and concentration of credit risk in
respect of loans to customers, see Note 10.

The maximum exposure to credit risk from unrecognized contractual commitments at the
reporting date is presented in Note 19,

(d} Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity
risk exists when the maturities of assets and liabilities do not match. The matching and or
controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is
fundamental to liquidity management. It is unusual for financial institutions ever to be
completely matched since business transacted is often of an uncertain term and of different
types. An unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of
losses.

The Bank maintains liquidity management with the objective of ensuring that funds will be
available at all times to meet ali cash flow obligations. The liquidity policy is reviewed and
approved by the Board of Directors,

The Bank seeks to actively support a diversified and stable funding base comprising debt
securities in issue, long-term and short-term loans from other banks, core corporate and retail
deposits, accompanied by diversified portfolios of highly liquid assets, in order to be able to
respond quickly and smaathly to unforeseen liquidity requirements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED)
FOR THE ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

The liguidity management policy requires:

e projecting cash flows by major currencies and considering the level of liquid assets necessary
in relation thereto;

maintaining a diverse range of funding sources;

managing the concentration and profile of debts;

maintaining debt financing plans;

maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection
against any interruption to cash flow;

+  maintaining liquidity and funding contingency plans;

] monitoring liquidity ratios against regulatory requirements,

2 & & »

The following tables show the undiscounted cash flows on financial assets, liabilities and credit-
related commitments on the basis of their earliest possible contractual maturity. The total gross
inflow and outflow disclosed in the tablesis the contractual, undiscounted cash flow on the
financial assets, liability or credit related commitment.

In accordance with legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan, depositors can withdraw their term
deposits at any time, losing in most of the cases the accrued interest. Accordingly, these
deposits, excluding acerued interest, are shown in the table above in the category of “Demand
and less than 1 month”.

For issued financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount of the guarantee is allocated to
the earliest period in which the guarantee can be called.

The following tables show the undiscounted cash flows on financial liabilities and unrecognized
credit-related commitments on the basis of remaining term to maturity. The total gross outflow
disclosed in the tables is the contractual undiscounted cash flow on the financial liabilities or off-
balance sheet commitments.
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INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA ALMATY JSC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED)
FOR THE ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

18. CAPITALMANAGEMENT

The Bank maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business. The
adequacy of the Bank’s capital is monitored using, among other measures, the ratios established
by the NBRK.

The primary objective of the Bank’s capital management is to ensure that the Bank complies with
externally imposed capital requirements and that the Bank maintains strong credit rating and
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder’s value.

The Bank manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changesin
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities. No changes were made in the
objectives, policy and processes of capital management from the previous years.

In 2015 the NBRK announced transition to the International Regulatory Framework for Banks
(Basel 11} was effected. Therefore, starting from 1 January 2015, the new capital requirements
came into effect for the Bank, and in accordance with the statutory regulation the Bank defines
as capital those items:

a. Tier 1 capital is a total of basic and additional capital. Basic capital comprises paid-in
ordinary share capital; share premium; current and prior periods’ retained earnings,
reserves created against thereof, less treasury ordinary share capital; intangible assets
including goodwill, and current and prior periods losses; deferred tax asset net of deferred
tax liability and other revaluation reserves, gains or losses from revaluation of financial
liabilities at fair value refated to change in own credit risk; regulatory adjustments to be
deducted from the additional capital, but due to insufficient levels of it deducted from basic
capital, and investments in shares {interests in the charter capital); perpetual financial
instruments; subordinated debt (hereinafter, the “financial instruments”) of legal entities,
whose financial statements are not consolidated in preparation of the Bank’s IFRS financial
statements and deduction of deferred tax assets. Additional capital comprises of perpetual
financial instruments and paid-in preference share capital less adjustments for the Bank’s
investment in its own perpetual financial instruments and treasury preference shares,
investments in shares {interests in the charter capital}, perpetual financial instruments,
subordinated debt {hereinafter, the “financial instruments”) of legal entities, whose
financial statements are not consolidated in preparation of the Bank'’s IFRS financial
statement, and deduction of deferred tax assets, regulatory adjustments to be deducted
from the tier 2 capital, but due to insufficient leveis of it deducted from additional capital.

b.  Tier 2 capital, which comprises the subordinated debt denominated in the national
currency,less investments in the subordinated debt of the financial organizations, in which
the Bank owns 10% and more of the issued shares {interests in the charter capital} of a legal
entity.

The equity is the sum of tier 1 tier 2 capital.
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Various further limits and qualifying criteria are applied to the above elements of the capital
base.Under the current capital requirements set by the NBRK banks have to maintain:

¢ aratio of basic capital to the sum of credit risk-weighted assets, contingent liabilities and
market risk-weighted assets and contingent claims and liabilities and quantified operational
risk (k1);

d. aratio of tier 1 capital to the sum of credit risk-weighted assets, contingent liabilities and
market risk-weighted assets and contingent claims and liabilities and quantified operational
risk (k1-2);

e. aratio of equity to the sum of credit risk-weighted assets, contingent liabilities and market
risk-weighted assets and contingent claims and liabilities and quantified operational risk {k2).

As at 31 December 2021, the minimum level of ratios as applicable to the Bank are as follows:
k1-7.5%
k1-2 - 8.5%
k2 — 10.0%.

The Bank has complied with all externally imposed capital requirements as at 31 December 2021.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Bank’s capital adequacy ratio, computed in
accordance with the NBRK requirements, comprised:

31 December 21 December
2021 2020

Tier 1 capital 36,313,245 30,332,821
Tier 2 capital - -
Total capital 36,313,249 30,332,821
Risk weighted assets and contingent liabilities, possible claims and liabilities,

operational risk, market risk 16,533,796 14,168,739
Capital adequacy ratio k-1 219.60% 214.10%%
Capital adequacy ratic k1-2 219.60% 214.10%
Capital adequacy ratio k2 219.60% 214.10%

19, CREDIT RELATED COMMITMENTS

The Bank has outstanding credit related commitments to extend credit. These credit related
commitments take the form of approved loans and credit card limits and overdraft facilities.

The Bank provides financial guarantees and letters of credit to guarantee the performance of
customers to third parties. These agreements have fixed limits and generally extend for a period
of up to five years.

The Bank applies the same credit risk management policies and procedures when granting credit

commitments, financial guarantees and letters of credit as it does for granting loans to
customers.
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The contractual amounts of credit related commitments are set out in the following table by
category. The amounts reflected in the table for credit related commitments assume that
amounts are fully advanced. The amounts reflected in the table for guarantees and letters of
credit represent the maximum accounting loss that would be recognized at the reporting date if
the counterparties failed completely to perform as contracted.

31 Decernber 21 December
2021 2020

Contracted amount
Guarantaes 112,424

The total outstanding contractual credit related commitments above do not necessarily
represent future cash requirements, as these credit related commitments may expire or
terminate without being funded. The majority of loan and credit line commitments do not
represent an unconditional credit related commitment by the Bank.

All credit related commitments related to issued guarantees are allocated to Stage 1 of the credit
risk grade.

20, CONTINGENCIES
{a) Insurance

The insurance industry in the Republic of Kazakhstan is in a developing state and many forms of
insurance protection comman in other parts of the world are not yet generally available. The
Bank does not have full coverage for its premises and equipment, business interruption, or third
party liability in respect of property or environmental damage arising from accidents on Bank's
property or related to operations. Until the Bank obtains adequate insurance coverage, thereis a
risk that thelass or destruction of certain assets could have a material adverse effect on
operations and financial position.

(b} Litigation

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank is subject to legal actions and complaints.
Management believes that the ultimate liability, if any, arising from such actions or complaints,
will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or the results of future
operations.

The taxation system in Kazakhstan is relatively new and is characterized by frequent changes in
legislation, official proenouncements and court decisions, which are often unclear, contradictory
and subject to varying interpretation by different tax authorities, including opinions with respect to
IFRS treatment of revenues, expenses and other items in the financial statements. Taxes are
subject to review and investigation by various levels of authorities, which have the authority to
impose severe fines and interest charges. A tax year generally remains open for review by the tax
authorities for three subsequent calendar years; however, under certain circumstances a tax year
Fnay remain open longer.
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21,

{c) Taxation contingencies

These circumstances may create tax risks in Kazakhstan that are more significant than in other
countries. Management believes that it has provided adequately for tax liabilities based on its
interpretations of applicable tax legislation, official pronouncements and court decisions.
However,the interpretations of the relevant authorities could differ and the effect on these
financial statements, if the authorities were successful in enforcing their interpretations, could be
significant.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

{a) Control relationship

The Bank’s parent company is Industrial and Commercial Bank of China JSC. The party with
ultimate control over the Bank is the Government of the People’s Republic of China.

Publicly available financial statements are produced by the Bank’s parent company.
{b) Transactions with members of the Board of Directors and Management Board

Total remuneration included in personnel expenses for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
31 December 2020 is as follows:

2021 2020
Shaort-term employee benefits 24,139 84,180
84,139 84,180

These amounts include cash and nen-cash benefits in respect of the members of the Board
of Directors and the Management Board.

The outstanding balances and average interest rates as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 for
transactions with the members of the Board of Directors and the Management Board are as follows:

31 December Average interest 31 Dacember Average interest
2021 rate, % 2020 rate, %
Statement of financial position
Current accounts and deposits
from customers 43,956 - 34,064
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES: FAIR VALUES AND ACCOUNTING CLASSIFICATIONS

{a) Accounting classifications and fair values

The table below sets out the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial

liabilities as at 31 December 2021.

Measured at fair

value through Measured at Total carrying
profit or loss amortized cost amount Fair value
Cash and cash equivalents - 185,448,747 189,448,747 189,448,747
Placements with banks and other
financial institutions - 1,104,500 1,104,500 1,104,500
Loans to corporate customers - 10,053,367 10,053,367 10,053,367
Investments measured at
amortized cost - 59,495,841 59,499,841 58,761,030
Other financial assets - 28,669 28,669 28,669
- 260,135,124 260,135,124 259,396,313

Due to banks - 3,044,736 3,044,736 3,044,736
Current accounts and deposits
from customers - 217,108,267 217,108,267 217,108,267
Other borrowed funds - 4,132,889 4,132,889 4,132,889
Financial instruments measured at
fair value through profit or loss 65 - 65 65
Other financial liabilities - 100,613 100,613 100,613

65 224,386,505 224,386,570 224,386,570

The table below sets out the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial

liahilities as at 31 December 2020:

Measured at fair
value through

Measured at

Total carrying

profit or loss amortized cost amount Fair value
Cash and cash equivalents - 124,410,888 124,410,383 124,410,888
Placements with banks and other
financial institutions - 1,417,275 1,417,275 1,417,275
Loans to corporate customers - 67,631,043 67,631,043 67,631,043
Investments measured at amortized
cost - 22,549,187 22,549,187 22,345,516
Financial instruments measured at
fair value through profit or loss 385 - 395 355
Orther financial assets - 20,871 20,871 20,871
395 216,025,264 216,029,659 215,825,988
Due to banks - 20,564,645 20,564,645 20,564,545
Current accounts and deposits from
customers - 154,862,739 154,962,739 154,979,468
Other borrowed funds - 11,266,144 11,266,144 11,266,144
- 186,793,528 186,793,528 186,810,257
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The estimates of fair value are intended to approximate the price that would be received to sell
an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. However, given the uncertainties and the use of subjective judgement,
the fair value should not be interpreted as being realizable in an immediate sale of the assets or
settlement of liabilities.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on
quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. For all other financial instruments, the Bank
determines fair values using other valuation technigues.

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the
price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of financial
instruments. Valuation technigues include net present value and discounted cash flow models,
comparison to similar instruments for which market-observable prices exist and other valuation
models. The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair vaiue determination that
reflects the price of the financial instrument at the reporting date that would have been
determined by market participants acting at arm’s length.

{b) Fair value hierarchy

The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements.

Level 1: quoted market price {unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.

- Level 2: inputs other than guotes prices included within Level 1 that are observable either
directly {i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices}. This category includes
instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments;
quoted prices for similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or
other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable
from market data.

® Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments where the
valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable
inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes
instruments that are valued based on quated prices for similar instruments where significant
unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the
instruments.

The table below analyses financial instruments measured at fair value by the level in the fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorized. The amounts are based on
the values recognized in the statement of financial position:

31 December 31 December
2021 2020
Level 2 Level 2
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
- Derivative assets - 3585
- Derivative liabilities 65 -
65 385
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The following table analyses the fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair value, by
the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorized as
at 31 December 2021, excluding the financial instruments, for which the carrying amount
approximates the fair value:

Total carrying
Level 2 Total fair values amount

Assets

Investment securities measured at amortized cost 58,761,020 58,761,020 59,499,841

The following table analyses the fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair value, by
the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorized as
at 31 December 2020, excluding the financial instruments, for which the carrying amount
approximates the fair value:

Total carrying
Level 2 Total fair values amount

Assets
Investment securities measured at amortized cost 22,345,516 22,345,516 22,549,187

23. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

At the start of January 2022, Kazakhstan witnessed mass protests, which turned into unrest.

On 5 January, the President introduced a state of emergency across the country, which was in place
until 19 January. During the mass protests internet access was restricted across Kazakhstan, bank
operations and transactions were suspended, stock and commaodity exchanges were closed, and
flights were cancelled, resulting in businesses being unable to function effectively.

The situation in Kazakhstan stabilised and was under the control of the autherities by 15 January.
The government is focusing on addressing the political and socio-economic situation.

In February 2022, tenge depreciated significantly against major foreign currencies amid the external
geopolitical situation. In order to reduce the negative impact of external factars on the Kazakhstani
economy, the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan {“NBRK") raised the base rate from
10.25% to 13.5% per annum with a corridor of +/- 1.0 p.p., and interventions on the currency
market were performed to support tenge exchange rate against foreign currencies. However, there
is uncertainty exists related to the future development of the geopolitical risks and their impact on
the economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

These events did not have a significant impact on the Bank's operating activities and on its financial
statements.

Management of the Bank is monitoring developments in the economic and political situation and
taking measures it considers necessary in order to support the sustainability and development of
the Bank’s business for the foreseeable future. However, the consequences of these events and
related future changes may have a significant impact on the Bank’s operations.
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